

# Scientific Research Behind Fueling Brains





# Table of Contents

Introduction	3
What are Executive Function Skills?	4
Components of Executive Function	5
Working Memory	5
Cognitive Flexibility	5
Inhibitory Control	5
Why are Executive Function Skills Important?	6
Development of Executive Functions in Early Childhood	6
Constructivism and Executive Functions	7
Executive Function Development and Early Childhood Education	8
Early Learning and Care Educators	8
Family, Environment, and the Impact on Executive Functions	9
Executive Functions and Educational Outcomes	10
Brain Building Early Learning Environments	11
Montessori Method	11
Reggio Emilia	12
Movement-Based Learning	13
The Fueling Brains Approach to Brain Building	14
References	15

### Introduction

The importance of high-quality early education on children's later cognitive and behavioral outcomes is clear (McCoy et al., 2017; Yoshikawa et al., 2013). While all children benefit from high-quality early education, children from low-income households and English Language Learners benefit the most (Blau & amp; Currie, 2006; Brilli et al., 2013; Burger, 2010; Yoshikawa et al., 2013). In addition to academic benefits for children, economists have also shown the cost benefits of investing in high-quality early education, which generates approximately \$7 for every dollar invested (Bartik, 2014). However, the evidence is also clear that quality is crucial when it comes to early education programs. Children in lower-quality care often develop more significant cognitive delays, as well as social and behavioral issues (Belsky et al., 2007; Brilli et al., 2013; Cleveland et al., 2006; Tran & Weinraub, 2006).

Many components contribute to the quality of early education for young children. However, the critical component is a comprehensive curriculum based on early learning standards, addresses the whole child, is developmentally appropriate, and is effectively implemented (National Association for the Education of Young Children [NAEYC], 2019; Wechsler et al., n.d.; Yoshikawa et al., 2013). In addition to domain-specific content areas (e.g., emergent literacy and numeracy skills), an early childhood curriculum that focuses on child-initiated learning (Serpell & Esposito, 2016) and domain-general skills (e.g., executive functioning, critical thinking, and problem-solving) provide the best environment for long-term development and academic learning (Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, 2011; McClelland et al., 2007). In addition, promoting executive function skills within early education may be the key to reducing the substantial gaps in school readiness and later achievement that separates disadvantaged children from their more advantaged peers (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000).

POWERED BY

## What Are Executive Function Skills?

Executive function skills are a set of cognitive processes involved in conscious objectiveoriented problem solving (Barkley, 2012; Garon et al., 2008; Yeager & Yeager, 2013). These include cognitive flexibility, working memory, and inhibitory control (Blair & amp; Razza, 2007; Diamond, 2013; Zelazo & Müller, 2002). Executive functions enable children to organize their thinking and behavior with increasing intentionality and flexibility (Barkley, 2012; Hughes & Graham, 2002). Executive function development begins at infancy and develops through adolescence with the most rapid growth occurring from ages 3 – 5 years of age (Carlson, 2003; Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, 2011). These skills develop rapidly during the preschool and early elementary years (ages 3-7) and provide a neural foundation to support school readiness, facilitating both self-regulated behavior and academic learning (Blair, 2002; McClelland et al., 2007). Executive functions enable children to stay focused for longer periods, retain and manipulate information, eliminate distractions from their environment, make better choices, and be better prepared for school and future life challenges (Diamond, 2013; Zelazo & Lyons, 2012). Executive functions also enhance the resilience of children who experience early adversity and can reduce school difficulties among maltreated children (Pears et al., 2010).



Cognitive Flexibility

Inhibitory Control

Working Memory

## Components of Executive Function

#### Working Memory

Working memory refers to the executive functions that allow the child to carry information in the mind and connect it with new and upcoming information (Hoskyn, 2010). Working memory enables the child to be effective in social interactions in a way that the child can make decisions in random and unpredictable environments (Young et al., 2018). Working memory, also known as updating, is the capability to comprehend incoming information and knowing how to treat it (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). This is vital for the development of social understanding and a child's language skills (Hoskyn, 2010; Purpura & Ganley, 2014).

### Cognitive Flexibility

Cognitive flexibility is the ability to shift between different tasks or goals (Carlson, 2003; Blair & Razza, 2007). This attention shifting includes both attention switching and task switching and allows the child to disengage from irrelevant information in a previous task and to focus on relevant information in a forthcoming task (Monsell, 2003). Children who have the ability to be cognitively flexible can remain goal-oriented in the face of a challenge (Carlson, 2003).

### Inhibitory Control

Inhibitory control is the ability to overpower an emotion to carry out another act that is a higher priority (Miller & Cohen, 2001). Inhibitory control is the ability to ignore distractions and resist temptation (Shonkoff & Phillips, 2000). Garon et al., 2008) emphasized the importance of scaffolding and drawing attention to something else to help the development of inhibitory control. Hoskyn (2010) described inhibitory control as a key skill for the preschool age as it helps the child to regulate their emotions and refrain from acting impulsively. Self-regulation is incorporated under the heading of executive functions and inhibitory control (Hoskyn, 2010; Richland & amp; Burchinal, 2013). Self-regulation skills allow individuals to manage and control their own emotions (Miller & Cohen, 2001; Lakes & Hoyt, 2004). Moreover, the ability to self-regulate helps a person with other tasks such as planning, organizing, and remembering details (Burchinal et al., 2002). Self-regulation in childhood affects critical developmental outcomes (Lakes & Hoyt, 2004), including mathematical and reading abilities in preschool and early grades and academic aptitude test scores in adolescence (Blair & Razza, 2007; Diaz et al., 1992; Gilmore & Cragg, 2014).

# Why are Executive Function Skills Important?

Brain research in neuroscience and developmental psychology places higher importance on acquiring executive functions and self-regulation abilities than on learning basic shapes, colors, or numbers (Center on the Developing Child, 2011; Mulder et al., 2017; Nieto et al., 2016). Children who develop executive function and self-regulation abilities in the early years have a greater tendency for improved academic achievement, increased prosocial behavior, and decreased disruptive behavior (Ahmed et al., 2019; Brock et al., 2009; Diamond et al., 2007; Diamond, 2013). Executive functions give an individual the skills and ability to focus for long periods, make decisions, shift between projects, hold multiple thoughts and ideas, plan and organize, refrain from bad habits, control impulses, abstain from inappropriate behavior, have strong short-term and long-term memory, and control their emotions (Yeager & amp; Yeager, 2013; Zelazo & Muller, 2002).

It is noteworthy that young children are not born with executive function skills; instead, they are born with the capacity to develop those (Nores & amp; Barnett, 2010). The development of a complete series of executive function skills continues and matures through the teenage years into adulthood (Burchinal et al., 2002). However, the development of executive function skills is often delayed among children growing up in poverty (Noble et al., 2007), leading to low levels of classroom engagement and elevated teacher-rated attention problems (Allee-Herndon & Killingsworth Roberts, 2019; McClelland et al., 2007).

### Development of Executive Functions in Early Childhood

Executive functioning is central to the development of young children, especially in the preschool years when the development of executive function skills is most rapid (Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University, 2011). Learning to control impulses, pay attention, and retain information actively in one's memory does not happen automatically as children mature, and young children who have problems with these skills will not necessarily outgrow them (Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University).



A child's experiences play a vital role in the development of executive function skills. Interventions aimed at improving executive function skills effectively support their development and benefit early reading and mathematics skills (Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University; Diamond, 2012; Wood et al., 1976). High-quality early childhood educators, quality early education programs, and a healthy family and home environment work together to support the development of executive function skills in children (Zelazo & Lyons, 2012).

# Constructivism and Executive Functions

Executive function and child development are best comprehended by using the lens of constructivism. From a constructivist viewpoint, children learn and develop through their own experiences (Bolton & Hattie, 2017). Constructivists hold the view that as children experience their world, knowledge is created, and this knowledge is not acquired passively. The basic premise of constructivist theory is supported by Dewey (1963), Vygotsky (1978), and Piaget (1968), who found specific environmental factors like community and teachers best facilitate the development of child executive function when teachers show involvement in the children's lives. The constructivist theory relies on the predisposition of how children naturally learn to explain the development of executive function (Bolton & Hattie, 2017; Verenikina, 2003). According to Vygotsky (1997), the constructivist theory posits children learn through social interactions with older and more knowledgeable persons within their environment. According to Roopnarine and Johnson (2005), constructivist theory identifies learning at early ages as an active, contextualized phenomenon of constructing knowledge rather than merely acquiring it. Vygotsky (1978) also developed theories on scaffolding by more knowledgeable others and the zone of proximal development. The zone of proximal development is the difference between what a child can do without help and what they can achieve with scaffolding (guidance and encouragement) from a person who is more skilled in an area (Vygotsky, 1978). These two concepts are crucial for the development of children's executive functions. (Epstein, 1996; Peltzman, 1998; Verenikina, 2003).



# Executive Function Development and Early Childhood Education

As more children are starting early learning programs as infants or toddlers, the need for curriculum models and intervention programs has increased (Hewett, 2001; Serpell & Esposito, 2016). The interventions that support self-regulation and executive function in family and classroom contexts are particularly important (Center on the Developing Child, 2017). However, only a few of such programs have been shown to enhance executive functions and self-regulation in young children (Diamond et al., 2007; Diamond & Lee, 2011; Thorell et al., 2009). Programs that include executive executive-function-promoting activities such as telling oneself out loud what one should do ("self-regulatory private speech"), dramatic play, and aids to facilitate memory and attention result in significant gains in children's reasoning ability, control of attention, and academic achievement (Blair & Raver, 2014; Diamond et al., 2007; Diamond & Lee, 2011). Diamond's (2012) study specifically identified activities and programs that included the development of executive function skills and abilities as part of the curriculum. Diamond concluded that Montessori and Tools of the Mind's early childhood curriculums had the greatest change in the development of children's executive functions. Both early childhood curriculums use Vygotsky's (1978) theory of social and behavioral development. Diamond identified each curriculums' approach to scaffolding as a huge contributor to the positive outcomes of executive functions in children.

## Early Learning and Care Educators

Key to the effective implementation of any early childhood curriculum is the quality and training of the teacher. In fact, it is the most important school-related factor influencing student achievement (Barnett, 2003; Rice, 2003). As the ones primarily responsible for implementing any early childhood curriculum, teachers have a significant role to play in ensuring that the learning environment is conducive for the development of executive functions (Birch & Ladd, 1997; Gilmore & Cragg, 2014; Sheffler, 2009).

# Scientific Research Behind Fueling Brains



A well-trained and highly skilled teacher will tailor their interactions to fit the needs of the child—using responsive language, engaging all children in classroom activities, fostering independence, and creating a language-rich environment (National Center on Quality Teaching and Learning, 2013; Pianta & Stuhlman, 2004). Effective early childhood teachers play an essential role in ensuring the learning environment is suitable for the development of executive functions (Hewett, 2001; Thorell et al., 2009; Willoughby et al., 2011).

### Family, Environment, and the Impact on Executive Functions

The child's family and home environment also have an overarching influence on the positive development of executive functions (Hosokawa & Katsura, 2018; Ladd et al., 1999). A child's early experiences are shaped by their home environment and the learning opportunities provided to the child (Bradley et al., 2001). Bernier et al. (2010) found that the attachment level of the child to their primary caregiver at 18 months to 26 months predicted outcomes in executive functions of the children at three and four years of age. Zelazo and Lyon's (2012) suggest that parental interventions at two and three years of age can impact the executive function outcomes of a child at four and five years of age. Conversely, there is a decline in children's executive functions when the children are part of socio-economically disadvantaged families that have increased violence, abuse, and limited access to quality education than those children in more favorable socio-economic and home conditions (Blau, 2003; Hosokawa & Katsura, 2018; Jednoróg et al., 2012; Nores & Barnett, 2010).

POWERED BY

# Executive Functions and Educational Outcomes

The relationship between executive function development and school readiness and academic achievement indicates that children who develop executive functions and self-regulation abilities in the early childhood years have higher academic achievement and exhibit more prosocial behavior later in life (Brock et al., 2009; Diamond, 2012; Duncan et al., 2010; Olmstead, 2000; Schweinhart & Weikart, 1998). Since executive functions, such as working memory, cognitive flexibility, and inhibitory control (Garon et al., 2008; Barkley, 2012), are used to complete various daily tasks, it makes sense that gains in their development would lead to gains in the development of other skills. Children also use these executive functions in school to complete school assignments, learn new concepts, engage appropriately with their peers and teachers, and exhibit prosocial behaviors (Barkley, 2012). For example, children who can maintain focus for longer durations of time, retain and manipulate information, exclude distractions from their environment, and make better choices are better prepared for school and future life challenges (Zelazo & Lyons, 2012).

Executive functions often predict future literacy and math achievement in children, specifically written language and reading comprehension skills (Gilmore & amp; Cragg, 2014; Harris & Bell, 1994; Hu et al., 2017; Hughes, 1998). According to Schweinhart and Weikart (1998), when students experience delays in the development of one or more executive functions, their understanding of academic material and social interactions may suffer. This delay may prohibit children from completing academic tasks, create difficulty in grasping concepts, and create difficulty attending to instruction (Zelazo & Muller, 2002).

## Brain Building Early Learning Environments

#### Montessori Method

The left part of our brain is the logical part that involves analytical and empirical aspects. The Montessori philosophy guides children to develop their focus and concentration. Maria Montessori developed specific educational methods and materials based on her scientific observations about how children learn. She discovered that children avidly absorb information from their environment and that if their environment provides learning opportunities, that children would readily teach themselves (American Montessori Society, n.d.). One of the key elements of the Montessori approach to learning is respecting the child's innate curiosity. This means that children are able to explore their world in a carefully planned environment that exposes them to materials and experiences that stimulate cognitive, social-emotional, and physical development (American Montessori Society).

Children are usually grouped into multi-age classrooms spanning three years. This type of classroom structure encourages younger children to learn from older ones and encourages the older children to be role models for their younger counterparts (Edwards, 2002). According to Ryniker and Shoho (2001), the Montessori approach is based on the tenet that children learn most effectively when allowed to make choices about their learning. Therefore, the philosophy gives children the ability to learn at their own pace, instilling personal independence, motivation, and self-discipline. In early childhood, Montessori students learn through sensory-motor activities, working with materials that develop their cognitive powers through direct experience: seeing, hearing, tasting, smelling, touching, and movement (American Montessori Society, n.d.).

Montessori classrooms employ an open concept in which desks are arranged in "rafts" to promote individual and small-group learning rather than desks oriented in one direction for wholegroup instruction (Chattin-McNichols, 1992). Instructionally, Montessori programs use didactic manipulative materials designed by Maria Montessori as an instructional methodology. Each piece or set of equipment is designed to provide the child with a clear-cut experience and then gradually lead to more complicated tasks (American Montessori Society, n.d.). Furthermore, Montessori is distinct because it does not use textbooks, worksheets, tests, grades, punishments, or rewards (Edwards, 2002)



### Reggio Emilia

The right side of our brain is creative, social and imaginative. Building this side of the brain is just as important as building the left side of the brain. The Reggio Emilia Approach is a playbased educational philosophy where passion, natural curiosity, and inquiry act as the catalysts to the child's learning & brain development. Developed by Loris Malaguzzi and the parents of the villages around Reggio Emilia in Italy after World War II, Reggio Emilia is based on the principles of respect, responsibility, and community through exploration and discovery in a supportive and enriching environment based on the interests of the children through a self-guided curriculum (Malaguzzi,1993).

The heart of the Reggio Emilia approach is that young children are individuals with rights and who are curious about their world and have the powerful potential to learn from all that surrounds them (Malaguzzi, 1993). Important to this approach is that curriculum topics are derived from talking with children and their families and things that are known to be interesting to children (Vakil et al., 2003). The Reggio Emilia approach calls for the presentation of new ideas and concepts in multiple forms, such as print, art, drama, music, puppetry, and so on. Varied presentations ensure that all children have the chance to understand and connect with the concepts being explored.

Documentation of the growth of both children and teachers is another important component of the Reggio Emilia approach. For instance, displays of photographs and examples of children's work as well as teachers' recordings and note-taking ofconversations provide records of children's development (New, 2007). Keeping within this framework, projects that emphasize children's expressions in an aesthetic environment are emphasized in the curriculum (Lim, 2004). The classroom is referred to as the "third teacher" in Reggio schools. Much like the Montessori approach, great care is taken to construct an environment that allows for the easy exploration of various interests (Vakil et al., 2003).



# Scientific Research Behind Fueling Brains



#### Movement-Based Learning

Movement-based learning is the concept that cognitive learning and physical development go hand in hand. When a child's body is involved in movement, the brain is in a higher state of arousal (Stevens-Smith, 2016). This allows children to learn best when moving because the movement actually stimulates the neurons and electrical wiring of the brain. Because of this stimulation, when movement and cognitive development is combined, it increases the number of neurons being used, and over time will allow them to become more efficient (Stevens-Smith, 2016).

A movement-based learning environment is based on promoting a healthy body and healthy mind. It enhances positive peer interaction and locomotor skills of students. It also helps students develop stability and strengthens object manipulation. In addition, opportunities for semi-structured peer play and scaffolding of inhibitory control are likely to enhance executive function-related skills (Serpell & Esposito, 2016). The movement-based environment involves play and physical activity, which makes students alert, active and prepares them to absorb the left brain and right brain learning. Through group games, sports, and fundamental movement skills, as well as plenty of outdoor exercises and nutritional guidance, students are exposed to a well-balanced and active lifestyle.



# The Fueling Brains Approach to Brain Building

The Fueling Brains approach to early learning integrates the Left Brain, Right Brain, and Movement Learning to support executive function in young children with the goal of helping them realize their full learning potential. The Fueling Brains philosophy teaches children how to learn, not what to learn. Parent expectations on teaching letters, colors, numbers and shapes changes to a focus on the acquisition of working memory, cognitive flexibility and impulse control. Fueling Brains includes an integrated early learning suite that tracks a child's progress, customizes curriculum to each child's individual needs, measures positive changes, and provides quality feedback for parents. This focus on the whole child and executive function develops lifelong skills and abilities so children can grow up to be courageous, make conscious decisions, manage their impulses, and regulate their emotions (Brock et al., 2009; Center on the Developing Child, 2017; Diamond, 2012; Duncan et al., 2010; Olmstead, 2000; Schweinhart & Weikart, 1998).

The Fueling Brain Curriculum integrates the hands-on, interactive instructional approach of Montessori with the creative, community-focused approach of Reggio Emilia with the physically active focus of Movement Learning to engage the whole child, left brain, right brain, and body, in the learning process. The Left Brain- focused activities bring peace, order and sense of routine in the child's daily life through practice, repetition and purposeful work. Children experience hands-on learning activities in language, mathematics, culture and geography. The goal is to build confidence, self-esteem and a 'can-do' attitude in children through practical, real-life experiences. The Right Brain-focused activities allow imagination and exploration to ignite your child's natural curiosity. They support creative thinking and expression through art, dance, and storytelling. The goal is to build a child's community through connections with others, relation-ship and friendship. The movement-focused activities support children's physical development through skill-based activities that encourage children to get stronger, faster and more balanced. These activities support the mind-body connection to enhance brain development. The goal is for children to stay moving and active to keep busy, burn energy, boost health and have fun.



### References

- Ahmed, S. F., Tang, S., Waters, N. E., & Davis-Kean, P. (2019). Executive function and academic achievement: Longitudinal relations from early childhood to adolescence. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 111(3), 446-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000296</u>
- Allee-Herndon, K. A. & Killingsworth Roberts, S. (2019): Poverty, Self-Regulation and Executive Function, and Learning in K-2 Classrooms: A Systematic Literature Review of Current Empirical Research. *Journal of Research in Childhood Education*, 33(3), 345-362. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02568543.2019.1613273</u>
- American Montessori Society. (n.d). About Montessori. <u>https://amshq.org/</u>
- Barnett, W. S. (2003). Better teachers, better preschools: Student achievement linked to teacher qualifications. Preschool Policy Matters, 2. New Brunswick, NJ: NIEER.
- Bartik, T. J. 2014. *Preschool and prosperity*. Policy Paper No. 2014-017. Kalamazoo, MI: W.E. Upjohn Institute for Employment Research. <u>https://doi.org/10.17848/pol2014-017</u>
- Barkley, R. A. (2012). Executive functions: What they are, how they work, and why they evolved. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Belsky, J., Vandell, D. L., Burchinal, M., Clarke-Stewart, K. A., McCartney, K., Owen, M. T., & The NICHD Early Child Care Research Network. (2007). Are there long-term effects of early child care? *Child Develop ment*, 78, 681-701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.01021.x</u>
- Bernier A., Carlson S. M., & Whipple N. (2010). From external regulation to self-regulation: Early parenting pre cursors of young children's executive functioning. *Child Development*, *81*, 326–339.
- Birch, S. H., & Ladd, G. (1997). The teacher-child relationship and children's early school adjustment. *Journal of School Psychology*, 35(1), 61-79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(96)00029-5</u>
- Blair, C. (2002). School readiness: Integrating cognition and emotion in a neurobiological conceptualization of child functioning at school entry. *American Psychologist*, 57, 111-127. https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.57.2.111
- Blair, C., & Raver, C. C. (2014). Closing the achievement gap through modification of neurocognitive and neuro endocrine function: Results from a cluster randomized controlled trial of an innovative approach to the education of children in Kindergarten. *PLoS ONE 9*(11): e112393. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0112393
- Blair, C., & Razza, P. R. (2007). Relating effortful control, executive function, and false belief understanding to emerging math and literacy ability in kindergarten. Child Development, 78(2), 647–663. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/17381795
- Blau, D. M. (2003). An economic perspective on child care policy. *Journal of Population and Social Security (Population)*, 1, 426–445.
  - https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.540.9121&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Blau, D., & Currie, J. (2006). Pre-school, day care, and after-school care who's minding the kids? In Hanushek, E. A., Welch, F. (Eds.), Handbook of the economics of education (Vol. 2, pp. 1163-1278). Amsterdam, The Netherlands: North Holland.
- Bolton, S., & Hattie, J. (2017). Cognitive and brain development: Executive function, Piaget, and the prefrontal cortex. Archives of Psychology, 1(3), 1-36. https://archivesofpsychology.org/index.php/aop/article/view/30/51
- Bradley, R. H., Corwyn, R. F., Burchinal, M., McAdoo, H. P., & García Coll, C. (2001). The home environments of children in the United States Part II: Relations with behavioral development through age thirteen. Child Dev. 72, 1868–1886. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.t01-1-00383</u>
- Brilli, Y., Del Boca, D., & Monfardini, C. (2013). State-of-the-art report. Child care arrangements: Determinants and consequences (Families and Societies Working Paper Series 2). Stockholm, Sweden: Stockholm Uni versity.
- Brock, L. L., Rimm-Kaufman, S. E., Nathanson, L., & Grimm, K. J. (2009). The contributions of "hot" and "cool" executive function to children's academic achievement, learning-related behaviors, and engagement in kindergarten. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly, 24*(3), 337-349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2009.06.001</u>
- Burchinal, M. R., Peisner-Feinberg, E., Pianta, R. C., & Howes, C. (2002). Development of academic skills from preschool through second grade: Family and classroom predictors of developmental trajectories. *Jour nal of School Psychology*, 40, 415-436. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-4405(02)00107-3</u>



- Carlson, S. M. (2003). Executive function in context: Development, measurement, theory, and experience. Monographs of the Society for Research in Child Development, 68(3), 138-151. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-5834.2003.06803012.x</u>
- Center on the Developing Child at Harvard University (2011). Building the Brain's "Air Traffic Control" System: How Early Experiences Shape the Development of Executive Function: Working Paper No. 11. http://www.developingchild.harvard.edu
- Chattin-McNichols, J. (1992). Montessori Programs in Public Schools. (ED348165 1992-00-00). ERIC. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED348165.pdf
- Cleveland, G., Corter, C., Pelletier, J., Colley, S., Bertrand, J., & Jamieson, J. (2006). A review of the state of the field of early childhood learning and development in child care, kindergarten and family support programs. Ontario Institute for Studies in Education. University of Toronto. http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.615.9744&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Diamond, A. (2012). Activities and programs that improve children's executive functions. Current Directions in
- Psychological Science, 21(5), 335-341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721412453722</u> Diamond, A. (2013). Executive functions. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 64, 135-168. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750</u>
- Diamond, A., Barnett, W. S., Thomas, J., & Munro, S. (2007). Preschool program improves cognitive control. Science, 318(5855), 1387-1388. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1151148
- Diaz, R., Neal, S. & Amaya-Williams, M. (1992). The social origins of self-regulation. In Moll, L.C. (Ed.), Vygotsky and Education: Instructional Implications and Applications of Sociohistorical Psychology. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Duncan, G., Magnuson, K., Boyce, T., & LaShonkoffst, J. (2010). The Long reach of early childhood poverty: Pathways and impacts. Center on the Developing Child. <u>https://inequality.stanford.edu/sites/default/files/media/\_media/pdf/pathways/winter\_2011/Pathway</u> <u>sWinter11\_Duncan.pdf</u>
- Edwards, C.P. (2002). Three Approaches from Europe: Waldorf, Montessori, and Reggio Emilia. Faculty Publica tions, Department of Child, Youth, and Family Studies. <u>https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/famconfacpub/2</u>
- Epstein, A. S. (1996). Models of early childhood education. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.
- Garon, N., Bryson, S.E, Smith, I.M. (2008). Executive function in preschoolers: a review using an integrative framework. *Psychological Bulletin*, 134(1), 31-60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.134.1.31</u>
- Gilmore, C., & Cragg, L. (2014). Teachers' understanding of the role of executive functions in mathematics learn ing. *Mind, Brain, and Education, 8*(3), 132-136. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/mbe.12050</u>
- Harris, D., & Bell, C. (1994). Evaluating and assessing for learning. London, UK: RoutledgeFalmer.
- Hewett, V. M. (2001). Examining the Reggio Emilia approach to early childhood education. Early Childhood Edu cation Journal, 29(2), 95-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1012520828095</u>
- Hoskyn, M. (2010). Working memory in infancy and early childhood: What develops? In B. W. Sokol, U. Müller, J. I. M. Carpendale, A. R. Young, & G. Iarocci (Eds.), Self and social regulation: Social interaction and the development of social understanding and executive functions (pp. 155–184). Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780195327694.003.0007</u>
- Hosokawa, R., & Katsura, T. (2018). Effect of socioeconomic status on behavioral problems from preschool to early elementary school–A Japanese longitudinal study. *PloS one, 13*(5), e0197961. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197961</u>
- Hu, B. Y., Fan, X., Wu, Z., LoCasale-Crouch, J., Yang, N., & Zhang, J. (2017). Teacher-child interactions and chil dren's cognitive and social skills in Chinese preschool classrooms. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 79, 78-86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.childyouth.2017.05.028</u>
- Hughes, C. (1998). Executive functions in preschoolers: Links with theory of mind and verbal ability. *British Jour* nal of Developmental Psychology, 16(2), 233-253. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-835X.1998.tb00921.x</u>
- Hughes, C. & Graham, A. (2002). Measuring executive functions in childhood: Problems and solutions? *Child and Adolescent Mental Health*, 7, 131-142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-3588.00024</u>



- Jednoróg, K., Altarelli, I., Monzalvo, K., Fluss, J., Dubois, J., Billard, C., Dehaene-Lambertz, G., & Ramus, F. (2012). The influence of socioeconomic status on children's brain structure. *PloS one*, 7(8), e42486. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0042486</u>
- Ladd, G. W., Birch, S.H., & Buhs, E. S. (1999). Children's social and scholastic lives in kindergarten: Related spheres of influence? *Child Development*, 70, 1373-1400. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00101</u>
- Lakes, K. D., & Hoyt, W. T. (2004). Promoting self-regulation through school-based martial arts training. *Journal* of Applied Developmental Psychology, 25(3), 283 302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appdev.2004.04.002</u>
- Lim, B. Y. (2004). The Magic of the Brush and the Power of Color: Integrating Theory into Practice of Painting in Early Childhood Settings. *Early Childhood Education Journal 32*, 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10643-004-1077-5
- Malaguzzi, L. (1994). Your image of the child: Where teaching begins. *Early Childhood Educational Exchange*, 96, 52-61.
- McClelland, M. M., Cameron, C. E., Connor, C. M., Farris, C. L., Jewkes, A. M., & Morrison, F. J. (2007). Links be tween behavioral regulation and preschoolers' literacy, vocabulary, and math skills. *Developmental Psy* chology, 43, 947-959. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.4.947</u>
- McCoy, D. C., Yoshikawa, H., Ziol-Guest, K. M., Duncan, G. J., Scchindler, H. S., Magnuson, K., Yang, R., Koepp, A., & Shonkoff, J. P. (2017). *Educational Researcher, 46*(8), 474-487. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X17737739
- Miller, E. K., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annual Review of Neuro* science, 24, 167–202. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167</u>
- Monsell, S. (2003). Task switching. *Trends Cognitive Science*, 7, 134–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1364-6613(03)00028-7
- Mulder, H., Verhagen, J., Van der Ven, S. H., Slot, P. L., & Leseman, P. P. (2017). Early executive function at age two predicts emergent mathematics and literacy at age five. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 8, Article 1706. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01706</u>
- National Association for the Education of Young Children (NAEYC). (October/November 2019). Defining and recognizing high-quality early learning programs: NAEYC's 10 accreditation standards. https://www.naeyc.org/defining-recognizing-high-quality-early-learning-programs
- National Center on Quality Teaching and Learning. (2013). Improving Teacher-Child Interactions: Using the CLASS in Head Start Preschool Programs. Office of Head Start. https://eclkc.ohs.acf.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/pdf/using-the-class-in-hs-preschool-programs.pdf
- New, R.S. (2007). Reggio Emilia as cultural activity theory in practice. *Theory into Practice*, 46(1), 5-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405840709336543
- Nieto, M., Ros, L., Medina, G., Ricarte, J. J., & Latorre, J. M. (2016). Assessing executive functions in pre schoolers using shape school task. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 7, Article 1489. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01489</u>
- Noble, K. G., McCandliss, B. D., & Farah, M. J. (2007). Socioeconomic gradients predict individual dif ferences in neurocognitive abilities. *Developmental Science*, 10, 464-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2007.00600.x</u>
- Nores, M., & Barnett, W. S. (2010). Benefits of early childhood interventions across the world: under in vesting in the very young. *Economics of Education Review*, *29*(2), 271-282. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2009.09.001</u>
- Olmsted, P. P. (2000). Early childhood education throughout the world. Abingdon-on-Thames, UK: Taylor & Francis.
- Pears, K. C., Fisher, P. A., Bruce, J., Kim, H. K., & Yoerger, K. (2010). Early elementary school adjustment of mal treated children in foster care: The roles of inhibitory control and caregiver involvement. *Child Develop ment*, 81, 1550-1564. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2010.01491.x</u>
- Peltzman, B. R. (1998). Pioneers of early childhood education: a bio-bibliographical guide. Westport, CT: Green wood Press.
- Pianta, R. C. & Stuhlman, M. W. (2004) Teacher-Child Relationships and Children's Success in the First Years of School. School Psychology Review, 33(3), 444-458. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02796015.2004.12086261</u>



- Purpura, D. J. & Ganley, C. M. (2014). Working memory and language: Skill-specific or domain-general relations to mathematics? *Journal of Experimental Child Psychology*, *122*, 104-121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jecp.2013.12.009</u>
- Rice, J. K. (2003). Understanding the Effectiveness of Teacher Attributes. Washington, DC: Economic Policy Institute.
- Richland, L., & Burchinal, M. (2013): Early executive function predicts reasoning development. *Psychological Science* 24(1), 87–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797612450883</u>
- Roopnarine, J. L., & Johnson, J. E. (2005). Approaches to early childhood education (4th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Ryniker, D. H., & Shoho, A. R. (2001). Student Perceptions of Their Elementary Classrooms: Montessori vs. tradi tional environments. *Montessori Life*, 13(1), 45-48.
- Schweinhart, L. J., & Weikart, D. P. (1998). Why curriculum matters in early childhood education. *Educational Leadership*, 55(6), 57.
- Sheffler, J. L. (2009). Creating a warm and inclusive classroom environment: Planning for all children to feel wel come. *Electronic Journal for Inclusive Education*, *2*(4), 4. https://corescholar.libraries.wright.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1102&context=eije
- Serpell, Z. N., & Esposito, A. G. (2016). Development of executive functions: implications for education al policy and practice. *Policy Insights from the Behavioral and Brain Sciences*, 3(2), 203-210. https://doi.org/10.1177/2372732216654718
- Shonkoff, J. P., & Phillips, D. A. (Eds.) (2000). From neurons to neighborhoods: The science of early childhood development. Washington, DC: National Academy Press.
- Stevens-Smith, D. (2016). Active Bodies/Active brains: The relationship between physical engagement and chil dren's brain development. *Physical Educator*, 73(4), 719-732. https://doi.org/10.18666/TPE-2016-V73-I4-6447
- Thorell, L. B., Lindqvist, S., Nutley, S. B., Bohlin, G., & Klingberg, T. (2009). Training and transfer effects of exec utive functions in preschool children. *Developmental Science*, *12*(1), 106-113. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7687.2008.00745.x</u>
- Thorell, L. B., & Nyberg, L. (2008). The Childhood Executive Functioning Inventory (CHEXI): A new rat ing instrument for parents and teachers. *Developmental Neuropsychology, 33*(4), 536-552. https://doi.org/10.1080/87565640802101516
- Tran, H., & Weinraub, M. (2006). Child care effects in context: quality, stability, and multiplicity in non-maternal child care arrangements during the first 15 months of life. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(3), 566-582. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.42.3.566</u>
- Vakil, S., Freeman, R., & Swim, T. J. (2003). The Reggio Emilia approach and inclusive early childhood programs. Early Childhood Education Journal, 30(3), 187–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022022107610</u>
- Verenikina, I. M. (2003). Vygotsky's Socio-Cultural Theory and the Zone of Proximal Development. In H. M. Hasan, I. M. Verenikina & E. L. Gould (Eds.), *Expanding the Horizon. Information Systems and Activity Theory* (pp. 4-14). Wollongong: University of Wollongong Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1978). Mind in Society: The development of higher psychological processes. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vygotsky, L. S. (1997). The collected works of LS Vygotsky: Problems of the theory and history of psychology (Vol. 3). Springer Science & Business Media.
- Wechsler, M., Melnick, H., Maier, A., & Bishop, J. (n.d.) The building blocks of high-quality early childhood pro grams [Policy Brief]. Learning Policy Institute. <u>https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-files/Building\_Blocks\_Early\_Childhood\_Ed\_ucation\_04202016.pdf</u>
- Willoughby, M. T., Wirth, R. J., Blair, C. B., & Family Life Project Investigators (2012). Executive function in early childhood: longitudinal measurement invariance and developmental change. *Psychological assessment*, 24(2), 418–431. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025779</u>
- Wood, D., Bruner, J., & Ross, G. (1976). The role of tutoring in problem solving. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 17, 89-100. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1976.tb00381.x</u>
- Yeager, M. & Yeager, D. (2013). Executive function and child development. New York, NY: W. W. Norton & Company.
- Young, E. S., Griskevicius, V., Simpson, J. S., Waters, T.E.A., & Chiraag, M. (2018). Can an unpredictable child hood environment enhance working memory? Testing the sensitized-



specialization hypothesis. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 114(6), 891–908. http://dx.doi.org/10.1037/pspi0000124

- Yoshikawa, H., Weiland, C., Brooks-Gunn, J., Burchinal, M. R., Espinosa, L. M., Gormley, W. T., Ludwig, J., Mag nuson, K., Phillips, D., & Zaslow, M. J. (2013). *Investing in our future: The evidence base on preschool education.* Society for Research in Child Development and Foundation for Child Development. <u>https://www.srcd.org/sites/default/files/file-attachments/mb 2013 10 16 investing in children.pdf</u>
- Zelazo, P. D., & Lyons, K. E. (2012). The potential benefits of mindfulness training in early childhood: A develop mental social cognitive neuroscience perspective. *Child Development Perspectives*, 6(2), 154-160. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2012.00241.x
- Zelazo, P. D., & Müller, U. (2002). Executive function in typical and atypical development. In U. Goswami (Ed.), Blackwell handbook of childhood cognitive development (pp. 445–469). Blackwell Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470996652.ch20

### Citation

Karim, A., Brown, A. L., & Zulfiqar, S. H. (2021). Scientific research behind Fueling Brains. Fueling Brains.



